IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000002

**RECEIVED**  
APR 21 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc., .....Respondent,

v.

Michael J. Frey and Grace I. Frey.....Defendants,

Of Whom Michael J. Frey is the Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Ian S. Ford  
Bar no. 12463  
Neil D. Thomson  
Bar no. 71209  
FORD WALLACE THOMSON LLC  
715 King Street  
Charleston, South Carolina 29403  
843-277-2011

*Attorneys for Appellant*

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err when it failed to apply the “scintilla of evidence” standard to Respondent’s motion for summary judgment?
- II. Did the trial court err when it disregarded the voluminous evidence presented by Appellant in opposing Respondent’s motion for summary judgment?
- III. Did the trial court err when it awarded damages under the incorrect legal document provisions and under incorrect interpretations of the applicable documents?
- IV. Did the trial court err when it granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent on Appellant’s counterclaims when Appellant had submitted evidence raising numerous issues of a material fact?
- V. Did the trial court err when it granted summary judgment prematurely, because Appellant did not have a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 11, 2012, Respondent Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc., (the "Club") filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Beaufort County, alleging claims of breach of contract and quantum meruit against defendants Michael J. Frey and Grace I. Frey (the "Freys"). On November 21, 2012, the Freys filed an Answer and Counterclaim, alleging counterclaims of breach of contract, violations of South Carolina Code § 33-31-620, 621 *et seq.*, "Failure to allow Members to approve fundamental changes," misrepresentation, and breach of fiduciary duty. On December 20, 2012, the Freys filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaims, to which the Club responded on January 18, 2013, with its Reply to Defendants' Amended Answer and Counterclaims.

On August 1, 2013, the Club filed a Motion to Dismiss, alleging that the Freys' second, third, fifth and sixth causes of action failed to state a claim. In particular, the Club argued that the breach of fiduciary duty claim must be pled as a derivative action. On November 6, 2013, the Freys filed an opposition to that motion to dismiss, arguing that they were seeking redress for their individual losses, which did not need to be filed derivatively.

On March 7, 2014, the Club filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, seeking judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Club on all of the Club's claims, and seeking judgment as a matter of law dismissing all of the Freys' counterclaims.

On April 10, 2014, the Circuit Court granted in part the Club's Motion to Dismiss, holding that the breach of fiduciary counterclaims, and certain other counterclaims, must be plead as derivative claims. On May 7, 2014, the Freys filed a Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim, alleging counterclaims for breach of contract, violation of South Carolina Code §§ 33-31-620, -621 *et seq.*, violation of South Carolina Code § 33-31-611, misrepresentation, and South Carolina Code § 33-31-610 *et seq.*, in addition to numerous affirmative defenses. The Club filed its response to that pleading on May 16, 2014.

On May 19, 2014, the Freys filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. On May 19, 2014, a hearing was held in Beaufort before The Honorable J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge, on the Club's Motion for Summary Judgment. On June 27, 2014, Judge Kinard issued an order granting the Club's Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims and counterclaims as to Michael Frey, but denying the claims as to Grace Frey.

On July 7, 2014, the Freys filed a Motion to Reconsider Order Granting Summary Judgment Against Michael J. Frey. A supporting Memorandum and attachments were filed on July 16, 2014. The Club appears to have filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Reconsider on or about October 28, 2014. On November 3, 2014, Judge Kinard heard oral arguments on the Motion to Reconsider. On November 17, 2014, the Freys filed, at Judge Kinard's direction, a Supplemental Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment Demanding Attorneys' Fees. On December 22, 2014, Judge

Kinard issued an Order Denying Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration and Affirming Summary Judgment Against Defendant Michael J. Frey.

The Freys filed a timely Notice of Appeal on January 2, 2015.

### FACTS

Callawassie Island is a community outside of Beaufort. Its property owners association is the Callawassie Island Property Owners Association, Inc. ("CIPOA"). Membership in CIPOA is not in dispute.

Respondent Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc., (the "Club") is a social club on Callawassie Island. When Michael and Grace Frey (the "Freys") purchased property on Callawassie Island in 1995, Appellant Michael Frey submitted an application to purchase a membership in a different organization, the Callawassie Island Club, Inc. ("CIC"). R. p. \_\_\_ (Compl. Ex. 1). The Application for Membership signed by the Freys indicated it shall not be binding until the acceptance below is signed by representatives of the CIC. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.*). The Club's copy of the Application for Membership (attached to the Complaint) is unsigned by the CIC. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.*). There is no evidence in the record that the Freys signed an agreement with the Club, only with CIC.

Equally as important, the Freys were told – and the Club documents at the time stated – that Michael Frey could end his membership at any time, which is consistent with a member's right provided by the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act. Specifically, the Club documents and witnesses' testimony

show that there are at least three methods of exit from the Club: resignation; termination; and expulsion.

1. **Resignation:** A member may "resign" by submitting their resignation and having their membership placed on a resale list. While the membership is on the resale list, the resigned member may continue to use the Club facilities, and must continue to pay certain charges. Once the membership is re-issued, the resigned member gets 80% of their equity contribution back. Equity contributions have increased over the years, up to \$45,000. R. p. \_\_\_ (2001 Club Plan pp. 4-5; Opp. Sum. Jmt. 5/18/2014 pp. 4-6 & citations therein, including Ex. E; Mot. Reconsider 7/7/2014 pp. 10-11 & citations therein).
2. **Termination:** A member may "terminate" their membership. This involves submitting a notice to the Club that voluntarily terminates the membership. The member remains responsible for dues and charges up to the date of termination. A member who "terminates" his or her membership is **not** entitled to a refund of their equity share in the club (up to \$45,000 in some cases). This is a substantial penalty borne by the member to cancel the membership and end any further financial obligations to the Club. Under the Club's "termination" provision, a member may have full membership privileges restored, if the board of directors approves. R. p. \_\_\_ (2001 Club Rules pp. 8-9; Opp. Sum. Jmt. 5/18/2014 pp. 4-6 & citations therein, including Ex. E).

3. **Expulsion:** A member may be “expelled.” A member who is sixty days delinquent on dues is “suspended.” After four months of non-payment, the member is “expelled” and must surrender their membership certificate to the Club. An expelled member forfeits their equity contribution to the Club (often as much as \$45,000), and has no further financial obligation to the Club. An expelled member may never again be admitted to the Club facilities “under any circumstances” and is not eligible for Club membership again—the person is *verboden*. R. p. \_\_\_ (2001 Club Rules pp. 8-9; Opp. Sum. Jmt. 5/18/2014 pp. 4-6 & citations therein). This is the exit method that applies to Michael Frey.

In spite of these provisions, the Club now seeks to block anyone from leaving the Club by insisting that members who relinquish or lose their memberships have on-going obligations that extend until a member’s membership is sold and transferred to a new member who is acceptable to the Club. Yet, the record and witnesses’ testimony show that the Club has a history of expelling members. R. p. \_\_\_ (2012 Club Resale List; Club expulsion letters, attached as Exs. D-E to Opp. Sum. Jmt. 5/18/2014; Opp. Sum. Jmt. 5/18/2014 pp. 4-6 & citations therein). Furthermore, there is no provision in the documents from 1994 through 2013 binding members who have terminated their memberships, or been expelled, to pay dues and other charges after they have left the Club. Instead, after “termination” or “expulsion” the Club is entitled to

keep the terminated or expelled person's equity contribution (\$22,000 for Michael Frey), a substantial penalty that serves to fairly compensate the Club. That equity contribution more than covers any purported dues and charges accrued during the four-month suspension period leading up to expulsion.

Under these terms and circumstances, Michael Frey was expelled in or about January of 2010, if not earlier. He has been barred from the Club since then. The trial court's Order is incorrect when it states that "Defendant continued to use the club amenities" after expulsion. R. p. \_\_\_ (Order 6/24/2014 p. 4).

In its lawsuit, the Club overreaches and now claims that Michael Frey continues to owe dues, fees, assessments, and other charges since his expulsion five years ago. Evidence from Club records show the Club sought to generate even more compensation to support its declining financial situation by insisting that "terminated" and "expelled" have perpetual obligations.

The Club also claims that Michael Frey no longer has the right to resign or terminate his membership. The Club further alleges that Michael Frey, despite having been expelled from the Club and losing his \$22,000 equity contribution, has unlimited additional liability for allegedly overdue, and future, dues payments. This contradicts the Club's own governing documents that indicate that financial obligations accrue against the "membership," not the "member," and are thereby limited to a member's original equity contribution. R. p. \_\_\_ (2001 Club Rules pp. 8-9; 1994 Club Rules pp. 8-9; Aff. M. Frey pp. 1-2; Mot. to Reconsider 7/7/2014 pp. 3-4 & citations therein; Opp. Sum. Jmt. 5/18/2014 pp.

24-25 & citations therein). The Freys have submitted extensive evidence challenging the Club's claims. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.*).

The Club moved for summary judgment before the Circuit Court, arguing that the Club's documents are unambiguous and therefore summary judgment should be granted in the Club's favor. R. p. \_\_\_ (Mot. Sum. Jmt. 3/6/2014 p. 4). Evidence shows the documents are ambiguous in many places and that there is a trail of significant changes made over several years by the Club to try to clean up what Harman Switzer (past president and treasurer) testified were "inconsistencies" in the language. R. p. \_\_\_ (Switzer depo. pp. 166-167). In opposition, the Freys submitted voluminous documents and deposition transcripts showing areas of known ambiguity as well as supporting their individual defenses and counterclaims. R. p. \_\_\_ (Opp. Sum. Jmt. 5/18/2014 & citations therein; Mot. to Reconsider 7/7/2014 & citations therein). Michael Frey submits this appeal seeking a reversal of the order granting summary judgment, so that he may have a trial on the claims and counterclaims.

#### LEGAL STANDARD

On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court. *Young v. S. Carolina Dep't of Disabilities & Special Needs*, 374 S.C. 360, 365, 649 S.E.2d 488, 490 (2007). In order to withstand a motion for summary judgment in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof (such as this case), the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence. *Turner v.*

*Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011); *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). The appellate court, like the trial court, must view all ambiguities, conclusions, and all inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Osborne v. Adams*, 346 S.C. 4, 550 S.E.2d 319 (2001). Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and should be cautiously invoked to ensure a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues. *Gauld v. O'Shaughnessy Realty Co.*, 380 S.C. 548, 558, 671 S.E.2d 79, 85 (Ct. App. 2008).

### ARGUMENT

The Club's primary cause of action was breach of contract.<sup>1</sup> The elements for breach of contract are the existence of a contract between these parties, its breach, and the damages caused by such breach. *Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins*, 386 S.C. 43, 48, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (Ct. App. 2009). As discussed below, there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether a contract existed between these parties, what that purported contract's terms were, and what damages were available or incurred due to the alleged breach by Michael Frey. On each of those

---

<sup>1</sup> The Club's Complaint alleges an "alternative" cause of action of quantum meruit. R. p. \_\_\_ (Compl.). The trial court's Order appears to grant summary judgment on the breach of contract action, rendering the "alternative" cause of action moot. In the event this Court determines that the quantum meruit claim also is pending, the same arguments apply as for the breach of contract claim, with the additional argument that, if no contract exists, there can be no continuing obligation for dues after expulsion. Additionally, there is no evidence that the Freys "benefitted" from or used their Club purported membership; the only evidence the Club provided was that the Club continued to send bills to the Freys.

points, the Freys submitted more than a “mere scintilla” of evidence to the trial court.

**I. The trial court’s Order should be reversed because it applied the wrong legal standard.**

In its Order, the trial court failed to apply the “mere scintilla” standard required by the South Carolina Supreme Court. *See Turner*, 392 S.C. at 122, 708 S.E.2d at 769; *Hancock*, 381 S.C. at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803. In articulating the legal standard the trial court applied, the Order recites only part of the required law:

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and it is clear the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

R. p. \_\_\_ (Order 6/24/2014 p. 2; citing *Hancock* and S.C. R. Civ. P. 56(c)). The Order omits a key part of the legal standard, that “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock*, 381 S.C. at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803.

The omission of the “mere scintilla” requirement is more than a drafting efficiency in the Order. As discussed in Section II, below, the Order ignores the movant Club’s requirements of (a) establishing the elements of its claims, and (b) showing that the voluminous evidence submitted by the Quinns fails to meet the “mere scintilla” standard. Instead, the Order largely assumes that the movant Club had met all its elements of proof—the Order does not make any clear “findings of fact” or “conclusions of law,” or discuss the elements of proof

required by the movant Club. This approach appears to have been driven in part by the trial court judge's background in drafting restrictive covenants for property owner subdivisions (a different type of legal instrument and obligation than the alleged contract at issue here) and current status as the president of a country club. R. p. \_\_\_ (Trans. hearing 11/3/2014 pp. 26-27; Trans. hearing 5/19/2014 p. 22).

Having made that assumption, the Order then effectively shifted the burden of proof onto the Freys. This is demonstrated, for example, by the Order's statement that Michael Frey "cannot establish the essential elements for a negligent misrepresentation claim . . . ." R. p. \_\_\_ (Order 6/24/2014 pp. 4-5). The trial court incorrectly treats the liability case as only a debt collection problem and appears to rely upon a trial standard—that the Freys must produce a preponderance of evidence on each element of their counterclaims—rather than viewing all ambiguities, conclusions, and all inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Osborne*, 346 S.C. at 4, 550 S.E.2d at 319.

**II. The trial court's Order should be reversed because the Freys presented more than a mere scintilla of evidence establishing genuine issues of material fact.**

The Freys presented a huge amount of evidence—documents, transcripts, affidavit—supporting their claims and defenses. The trial court's Order largely disregards that evidence, and entirely fails to address the numerous genuine issues of fact raised by that evidence.

**A. The Freys presented more than a mere scintilla of evidence challenging the Club's interpretation of the alleged agreement, and whether the alleged agreement exists.**

The Freys presented significant evidence challenging the Club's interpretation of the alleged agreement, and challenging whether the alleged agreement exists. The trial court's Order failed to address that evidence, or explain why it does not rise to the "mere scintilla" standard. Moreover, the evidence summarized below establishes that the trial court's conclusion that "the agreement between the parties is unambiguous" was erroneous.<sup>2</sup> R. p. \_\_\_ (Order 6/24/2014 p. 6). Similarly, the trial court's exclusion of extrinsic evidence based to that purported lack of ambiguity was in error.<sup>3</sup> R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.*).

**(1) The Order fails to establish the terms of the alleged agreement.**

---

<sup>2</sup> In the alternative, even if the alleged contract was unambiguous, Michael Frey is still entitled to a trial on disputed issues of fact, such as (i) whether and when Michael Frey was expelled from the Club (as opposed to "resigned" or "terminated"); (ii) whether the Club may allow certain members to concede their memberships back to the Club, but deny that right to other members such as Michael Frey; and (iii) whether Michael Frey owes money to the Club, or how much is owed. R. p. \_\_\_ (2001 Club Rules pp. 8-9; 1994 Club Rules pp. 8-9; Aff. M. Frey pp. 1-2; Mot. to Reconsider 7/7/2014 pp. 3-4 & citations therein; Opp. Sum. Jmt. 5/18/2014 pp. 24-25 & citations therein).

<sup>3</sup> See *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Associates, LLC*, 374 S.C. 483, 499-500, 649 S.E.2d 494, 502 (Ct. App. 2007) ("A contract is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one meaning or when its meaning is unclear. . . . Ambiguous language in a contract should be construed liberally and most strongly in favor of the party who did not write or prepare the contract and is not responsible for the ambiguity; and any ambiguity in a contract, doubt, or uncertainty as to its meaning should be resolved against the party who prepared the contract or is responsible for the verbiage.").

The Club never established, and the Order fails to address, exactly what agreement purportedly binds the Freys, and what the terms of the agreement were. The Order quotes six documents on which it relies, most of which do not apply to the Freys because (i) the documents are dated after Michael Frey had been expelled, and (ii) the quoted excerpts refer to different tracks of exiting the Club—to “resignation” or “termination” of members, rather than “expulsion” of members. R. p. \_\_\_ (Order 6/24/2014 pp. 3-4).

Of the six documents relied on by the Order, three are dated 2013 and 2014 (after the lawsuit was filed in 2012), and two are undated. The Order does not explain how it legally applies 2013 and 2014 documents to the Freys, when the evidence shows that Michael Frey was expelled by 2010 and the Freys were sued in 2012. R. p. \_\_\_ (Order 6/24/2014 pp. 3-4). The Order itself indicates that the trial court considered governing documents after 1994 to be irrelevant to its ruling. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.* p. 2). In sum, the trial court’s Order does not establish what purported contract applies, let alone what the terms were. Without identifying the applicable terms, the trial court’s conclusion that those terms were “unambiguous” also was in error. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.* p. 6).

- (2) **The trial court erred by disregarding the abundant evidence that the Freys had been expelled from the Club and had no further obligation.**

The Order improperly mixes up, or disregards, the differences among a “resigned” member, a “terminated” member, and an “expelled” member under the Club documents. It also fails to recognize that the Club surreptitiously made

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