THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
14<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-000002

---

RECEIVED  
AUG 28 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Michael J. Frey and Grace I. Frey,  
of Whom Michael J. Frey is the Appellant,

---

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Ehrick K. Haight, Jr., Esq. #2446  
Stacey S. Collins, Esq. #73360  
MINOR, HAIGHT & ARUNDELL, P.C  
Post Office Drawer 6067  
Hilton Head Island, South Carolina 29938  
(843) 785-8040

and:

Stephen P. Hughes, Esq. #2805

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. FREY FAILED TO PRESERVE SEVERAL ISSUES FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

Frey makes several arguments that were raised for the first time during the motion for reconsideration and in his Brief, including but not limited to those outlined below.

#### A. ISSUE I: IMPROPER LEGAL STANDARD.

Frey takes issue with the legal standard recited in the Initial Order, contending Judge Kinard's Order fails to mention the "mere scintilla" standard used in a summary judgment context. (App. Initial Brief p. 9). While Frey briefly mentioned this concern in his Motion for Reconsideration<sup>3</sup>, he employs entirely new arguments in his Brief.

Frey contends the failure to include the "mere scintilla" language in the Order "appears to be driven in part by the trial court judge's background in drafting restrictive covenants for property owner subdivisions . . . and current status as the president of a country club." (App. Initial Brief pp. 9-10). Frey's argument seeks to cast a cloud of doubt over Judge Kinard's ability to impartially adjudicate this matter. However, at no time during the proceedings of this matter did Frey question Judge Kinard's fitness to hear the case nor did he request Judge Kinard's recusal. Accordingly, his argument and belated questioning of Judge Kinard's fitness is unpreserved for appellate review. *See Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 643 (2011) (stating it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal) (Citations omitted).

Frey further asserts other shortcomings, including failure to include official "findings of fact" and "conclusions of law;" improperly shifting the burden of proof to

---

<sup>3</sup> (R. pp. 346-347).

the non-moving party; and treating the matter as “only a debt collection problem.” (App. Initial Brief pp. 9-10). Frey has raised these arguments for the first time in his Brief. *See Id.* Accordingly, they are not preserved for appellate review and should not be considered by this Court. *See Ulmer v. Ulmer*, 369 S.C. 486, 490, 632 S.E.2d 858, 861 (2006) (stating an appellate court will not consider issues on appeal which have not been preserved for appellate review) (Citations omitted).

#### B. ISSUE III(B) WAIVER ARGUMENT.

Frey challenges Judge Kinard’s reliance upon and citation to the 2014 General Club Rules governing expulsion. (App. Initial Brief pp. 30-32). In doing so, Frey contends CIMC’s act of amending its Club Rules in 2014, to reflect that an expelled member will remain “liable for all Charges until Membership is re-issued,” operates as a waiver of CIMC’s argument and an admission that the un-amended version of that provision was open to differing interpretations.<sup>4</sup> (App. Initial Brief pp. 30-32). This argument was not presented to Judge Kinard, either through oral argument, written memoranda, or in his Rule 59 Motion. *See Elam v. S.C. Dep’t. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004) (stating issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court). Accordingly, the argument is unpreserved and should not be considered by this Court.

#### C. ISSUE III(E) ATTORNEYS’ FEES.

Frey takes issue with Judge Kinard’s award of attorneys’ fees to CIMC, claiming CIMC failed to cite statutory or contractual authority for recovering its attorneys’ fees.

---

<sup>4</sup> It is important to note that Judge Kinard’s reference to the 2014 Club Rules was merely illustrative of the Club’s consistent policy that all members are responsible for the payment of dues, fees, and assessments until such time as the membership is reissued.

(App. Initial Brief pp.34-38). Frey then attempts to dissect CIMC's governing documents, reading them in light of his argument, to impugn Judge Kinard's award. (App. Initial Brief pp. 34-38). Frey levies further attacks on Judge Kinard's Orders by asserting he relied on generalized statements in CIMC's documents and disregarded specific provisions and improperly revised documents. (App. Initial Brief pp. 34-38).

At the hearing of CIMC's Motion for Summary Judgment, both in oral argument and in his supporting memorandum of law, Frey contended awarding attorneys' fees was improper because the affidavit accompanying the request for attorneys' fees was untimely. (R. p. 259;p. 1221, lines 17-19;p. 1224, lines 20-25). Frey never challenged CIMC's contractual authority to request attorneys' fees. The only argument presented to Judge Kinard prior to his initial ruling was the challenge to the timeliness and reasonableness of the affidavit of attorneys' fees submitted by counsel for CIMC.

Admittedly, over CIMC's objection, Frey raised arguments about the source of authority for attorneys' fees to Judge Kinard during the hearing on the motion for reconsideration. (R. p. 1242, line 24-p. 1243, line 21;p. 1255, lines 6-10). However, a party may not raise a new issue previously not raised to the court in a Rule 59 motion. *See Kiawah Prop. Owners Group v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n.*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004) (a party may not raise an issue in a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment that could have been presented prior to the judgment). Accordingly, because Frey has not challenged the award of attorneys' fees based on these arguments raised to Judge Kinard prior to issuance of the initial Order, Frey has waived his challenge of the attorney fee issue. *See First Union Nat'l Bank v. S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511

S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (stating a failure to challenge a ruling is an abandonment of the issue and an unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case).

#### D. ISSUE IV(A) STATUTORY VIOLATION CLAIM

Frey asserts Judge Kinard erred by dismissing his statutory violation claim under S.C. Code Ann. §33-31-621, because CIMC is time barred from challenging Frey's mandatory expulsion. (App. Initial Brief pp. 38-40). Frey asserts CIMC's collection action against him amounts to a challenge of his expulsion from the Club. (App. Initial Brief pp. 39-40). Frey cites section 33-31-621 for the proposition that a challenge to an expulsion must be commenced within one year of that expulsion. (App. Initial Brief pp. 39-40). As a threshold matter, section 33-31-621 clearly applies in the context of an expelled member challenging an expulsion. However, the Court need not reach this argument as it is not preserved for appellate review.

In his second amended answer and counterclaim, Frey pled a cause of action claiming a violation of sections 33-31-620, 621. In pleading this cause of action, Frey did not assert any argument regarding the statute of limitations, but noted the statute of limitations as separate affirmative defense. (R. pp. 99-100;p. 104). During the briefing and arguments at the summary judgment stage, Frey never argued CIMC's debt collection amounted to a time-barred challenge to Frey's purported expulsion. Furthermore, Judge Kinard did not specifically rule on this argument and Frey did not raise it in his motion for reconsideration. Accordingly, this issue was not properly presented to Judge Kinard for consideration, was not ruled on by Judge Kinard, or raised in Frey's Motion for Reconsideration. *See Elam*, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80 (2004) (stating issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they

are raised to and ruled on by the lower court). Accordingly, the arguments presented in Frey's Issue IV(A) are not preserved for appellate review and should not be considered by this Court.

#### E. ISSUE IV(B) FREY'S NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION CLAIM

Frey contends Judge Kinard erred in dismissing Frey's negligent misrepresentation claim because CIMC's act of providing methods for certain members to leave the club without owing more than their equity contribution "aligned with Appellant's understanding . . ." (App. Initial Brief pp. 40-42). This specific argument in favor of Frey's negligent misrepresentation claim was never presented to Judge Kinard for consideration and is not preserved for appellate review. *See Elam*, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80 (2004) (stating issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court).

II. CIMC DEMONSTRATED THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT BY CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISHING (A) FREY WAS A MEMBER, (HAVING PAID DUES FOR THE USE OF CIMC'S AMENITIES); (B) THAT THE GOVERNING DOCUMENTS (FROM THE TIME FREY ACQUIRED HIS MEMBERSHIP FORWARD) OBLIGATED HIM TO REMAIN IN GOOD STANDING UNTIL HIS MEMBERSHIP REISSUED; AND (C) THAT FREY HAD NOT MADE PAYMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AGREEMENT.

#### A. MEMBERSHIP IN CIMC IS A CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATION

The required elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration. *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of South Carolina*, 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003). All of these elements are conclusively established by the record in this case.

When Frey acquired his membership in CIMC's predecessor, the Callawassie Island Club, Inc., the terms and provisions governing membership were memorialized in the 1994 Governing Documents. (R. pp. 25-46). Frey signed The Callawassie Island Club Membership Application ("Application") and also its Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement"). (R. pp. 25-46;p. 47;p. 62;p. 94). In so doing, he expressly agreed to be bound by the 1994 Plan (R. pp. 25-36). Frey's purchase of a membership is not in dispute. Nor is there any controversy over the fact that CIMC provided, and Frey enjoyed, the benefits of membership; or that Frey paid dues, fees and assessments for well over a decade. "A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct." *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 483, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct.App.1997). In this case, we have ample evidence of all three.

As for consideration, our courts have held it may consist of "some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered or undertaken by the other." *Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v. Prestwick Ltd. P'ship*, 331 S.C. 385, 389, 503 S.E.2d 184, 186 (Ct.App.1998). A benefit to the promisor or a detriment to the promisee may provide sufficient consideration for a contract. *Shayne of Miami, Inc. v. Greybow, Inc.*, 232 S.C. 161, 167, 101 S.E.2d 486, 489 (1957). Clearly, the provision of benefits and services in exchange for the observance of the duties and obligations of membership qualifies as adequate consideration.

There being no question that Frey was offered membership subject to the 1994 Governing Documents, accepted membership in accordance with the 1994 Governing Documents, and was accorded the rights and privileges of membership pursuant thereto;



the trial court rightly concluded that a contract existed. “By applying for a membership and purchasing same, Defendant became contractually bound by the 1994 Plan for the Offering of Memberships and the Exhibits thereto, which included the By-Laws and the General Club Rules . . . .” (R. p. 5).

The 1994 Plan specifically contemplated the transfer of the Callawassie Island Club’s assets to the membership, which occurred in late 2001, when CIMC assumed control. (R. p. 1268;p. 439). Following CIMC’s acquisition of the club assets, Frey continued his membership as allowed under the CIMC Governing Documents. Section 2.2.2 of the 2001 Plan states in part: “Each equity member as of the date of this Plan will be entitled to continue his or her equity membership under this Plan without having to pay an additional or new membership contribution to the Club.” It is clear in the record that Frey availed himself of the benefits of membership in CIMC from the time of its acquisition until he ceased payment of his dues. (R. pp. 25-36;pp. 414-432).

The trial court found: (a) that a contract exists, (b) that CIMC has the right to enforce it, (c) that Frey continued to use the club amenities, and (d) paid dues to CIMC. Because these findings are wholly supported by the record and not reasonably subject to any other inference, they should not be disturbed on appeal. (R. p. 7).

#### B. OBLIGATION TO PAY DUES UNTIL MEMBERSHIP REISSUED.

Having satisfied itself that a contract did exist under the 1994 Governing Documents, as amended, the Trial court next addressed its interpretation. At all times during Frey’s membership, the applicable governing documents mandated that members

remain obligated for dues, fees and assessments until such time as the membership was reissued.<sup>5</sup> The following excerpts leave no room for contrary interpretation:

Relevant Plan Excerpts:

An equity member who has resigned from the Club will be obligated to continue to pay dues and food and beverage minimums to the Club **until his or her equity membership is reissued** (*emphasis added*) by the Club. (R. p. 1280).(*Plan for the Offering of Memberships, April 1, 1994, Rev. July, 1994; "Payment of Dues by Resigned Equity Member", Page 9, in force at the time Frey acquired Membership*).

An Equity Member who is on the waiting list to sell his/her Membership will be obligated to continue to pay to the Club all Charges associated with his/her Membership **until his/her Equity Membership is reissued by the Club** (*emphasis added*). (R. pp. 1453-1454).(*Plan for the Offering of Membership, Amended as of February 1, 2008, 5.11 "Payment of Dues and Charges By Resigned Members", in force at the time of Frey attempted resignation*).

Relevant Excerpt from By-Laws:

Any equity member may resign from the Club by giving written notice to the Secretary. Dues, fees and charges shall accrue against the resigned equity membership **until the resigned equity membership is reissued** (*emphasis added*) by the Club. (R. p. 1319).(*By-Laws, Callawassie Island Club, Article X, Sec. 9(a), pg. B-11, in force at the time Frey acquired Membership*).

The By-Laws impose identical obligations (for ongoing payment of dues, fees, charges, until the membership is reissued) upon expelled members.

---

<sup>5</sup> At the time Frey acquired membership, the governing documents included The Plan for Offering Memberships dated April 1, 1994, Rev. July, 1994, and the By-Laws and General Club Rules issued by CIC. A full copy of the 1994 Plan, 2001 Plan, 2007 Plan and 2008 Plan, together with the 1994 General Club Rules and By-Laws, along with all later versions, amended and adopted by CIMC during the Frey' membership, were provided to the trial court (R. p. 1208, lines 21-22), the relevant excerpts of which are set forth herein above.

Any member of the Club who has been expelled shall not again be eligible for membership nor admitted to the Club Facilities under any circumstances. An expelled member shall be so notified by registered mail and shall have the obligation to surrender his or her membership certificate **for reissuance by the Club to a new member in accordance with the provisions of Article X, Section 9 of these By-Laws** (*emphasis added*). (R. p. 1323).(*By-Laws, Callawassie Island Club, Article XIV, Sec. 5, pg. B-15, in force at the time Frey acquired Membership*).

The Club shall have a lien against each membership for any unpaid assessments, fees, annual dues or other charges . . .[and] **may also** (*emphasis added*), at its option, sue to recover a money judgment for unpaid annual dues or other charges . . .” (R. p. 1487).(*By-Laws, Callawassie Island Members Club, March, 2009, Article XI, pg. 8, in force at the time Frey attempted resignation - showing Club is not limited to recovery against equity only*).

Relevant Excerpts from the General Club Rules:

Any member may terminate membership in the Club by delivering to the Secretary written notice of termination in accordance with the By-Laws. **Notwithstanding termination, the member shall remain liable for any unpaid club account, membership dues and charges** (including food and beverage minimums) (R. p. 1331).(*Callawassie Island Club General Club Rules “Suspension and Termination of Membership, page C-3, in force at the time Frey acquired Membership*).

Any member may terminate membership in the Club by delivering to the Membership Director written notice of termination in accordance with the Plan for the Offering of Club Memberships. **Notwithstanding termination, the member shall remain liable for any unpaid club account, membership dues and charges** (including food and beverage minimums) **until the membership is sold** (*emphasis added*). (R. p. 1477).(*The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. General Club Rules as of February 23, 2009, Sec. 14.2.1, in force at the time Frey attempted resignation*).

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